THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Cynthia Graham Howe, Master-in-Equity Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001550

Branch Banking and Trust CompanyRespondent

v.

Cindy B. Hunt; Willow Greens

Homeowners Association, Inc.;

CJ Developers, LLC.....Defendant(s),

Of Whom Cindy B. Hunt isAppellant

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Cindy B. Hunt, Pro Se, SC Bar # 65408.
195 D Willow Green Drive
Conway, SC 29526
843 488-1131

RECEIVED
AUG 14 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Table of Content

Table of Cases	Page No.
<i>Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp., Opinion No. 26784 (S.C. 3/8/2010)</i>	24, 32, 45

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court err in denying Hunt’s 9/30/2014 Motion for Default Judgment under Rule 55 (a) and (b), SCRCP, etc against BBT? Page 15
2. Did the lower court err in granting BBT’s 2nd MTD the FAC in the January 13, 2015 Order? Page 34
3. Did BBT engage in Forum Shopping and Vexatious Litigation?Page 35
4. Is Hunt entitled to attorney fees and costs? Page 39

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter involving Hunt's banking relationship with BBT has been on going since about January 18, 2008. Before filing the first of four lawsuits Hunt reported BBT to the FDIC. Thereafter, the first lawsuit was filed by Hunt in the USDC on August 9, 2009 against BBT and several employee Defendants. The second lawsuit was filed by Hunt in the USDC on April 12, 2011 against BBT and several employee Defendants and dismissed on March 13, 2013 without prejudice. The foreclosure mortgage became delinquent on July 1, 2012. The third lawsuit was filed by Hunt in the State Court on July 9, 2012 against BBT. BBT **removed** lawsuit # 3 to the USDC on August 6, 2012 asserting that the amount in controversy was the delinquent mortgage. Hunt did not make a motion to remand lawsuit # 3. BBT made a motion to dismiss. Lawsuit # 3 was dismissed on March 13, 2013 without prejudice where the USDC did not rule on all of the defenses asserted by BBT in the motion to dismiss.

The fourth and current lawsuit was filed by BBT in State Court on April 16, 2013 against Hunt, Willow Greens Homeowners Association, Inc. and CJ Developers, LLC asserting foreclosure. Hunt has asserted counterclaims in lawsuit # 4 against BBT for the mishandling of Hunt's accounts; and BBT asserted motions to dismiss that included the

defenses that BBT included in its motion to dismiss from lawsuit # 3 that were not ruled on by the USDC.

A hearing was scheduled on October 14, 2014 for BBT's second motion to dismiss the first amended counterclaims (2nd MTD the FAC) and Hunt's motions, affidavits, etc as shown in the notice of hearing at exhibit # 105. (R. pp. 545-546) At the October 14, 2014 hearing Hunt submitted a brief and resubmitted a brief. The lower court made oral rulings on BBT's 2nd MTD the FAC. Thereafter, the attorney for BBT exited the courtroom before Hunt gave oral arguments on Hunt's motions, affidavits, etc as shown in the notice of hearing at exhibit # 105. (R. pp. 433-546, pp. 829-958) The lower court made a written Order at 9:04 am on October 28, 2014 as shown at exhibit # 94 against Hunt. On October 30, 2014 Hunt made a Motion to alter or amend [] (MTAOA) re three motions; this appeal involves only the motion as to the Order at exhibit # 94. (R. pp. 85-90)

Hunt **removed** lawsuit # 4 to the USDC on November 10, 2014. BBT made a motion to remand on December 8, 2014. The State Court on January 13, 2015 filed an Order from the hearing that had been held on October 14, 2014 re BBT's 2nd MTD the FAC. The attorney for BBT received a copy of the January 13, 2015 Order in January 2015. The attorney for BBT did not provide the USDC with a copy of the January 13, 2015 Order. The USDC made a finding of personal

jurisdiction over Hunt. Lawsuit # 4 was remanded to the State Court on May 8, 2015. The certified Order of Remand was filed by the HC clerk of Court on May 11, 2015.

Thereafter, Hunt made a motion under Rule 41, SCRCF on May 27, 201[5] requesting attorney fees and costs (MFAFC). Hunt did not request a hearing on the May 27, 2015 motion. And BBT did not make a written objection to the May 27, 2015 motion. The lower court denied the MFAFC in a written Order on June 3, 2015.

Hunt wrote to the HC Clerk of Court on July 27, 2015 for copies of Orders. Hunt received three orders from the clerk of court on August 10, 2015: the January 13, 2015 Order; the May 11, 2015 Order and the June 3, 2015 Order. Thereafter, on August 11, 2015 Hunt made two motions under Rule 59 and 60, SCRCF and lack of jurisdiction as to the January 13, 2015 Order; and the June 3, 2015 Order.

A hearing was held for three motions on November 10, 2015: the October 30, 2014 MTAOA and the two motions filed on August 11, 2015. At the November 10, 2015 hearing the lower court orally denied all three of Hunt's motions. The June 15, 2016 Order from the November 10, 2015 hearing is the reason for the notice of appeal.

Change in parties: WGHOA withdrew on November 5, 2013; and CJ Developers was dissolved on March 9, 2006 which is about seven

years prior to lawsuit # 4 being filed. CJ Developers has never filed any documents or made an appearance in this matter.

The date of service of the notice of appeal: July 23, 2016.

The amount involved on appeal is in excess of fifty million dollars; and the attorney fees and costs are in excess of \$2, 668,905 plus legal interest, etc.

Relevant Facts

Lawsuit # 1:¹ c/a 4:09-cv-2151-JMC-TER was filed on 8/13/2009 in the USDC by Hunt against several Defendants involving federal question jurisdiction. (R. pp. 1587-1591). Hunt filed an amended complaint on 8/31/2009; and BBT filed a motion to dismiss (MTD) on 10/27/2009. (R. pp. 147-154; R. pp. 339-354).² Hunt filed a 2nd amended complaint on 5/20/2010. (R. pp. 155-164). BBT filed a MTD the 2nd amended complaint on 5/29/2010. (R. pp. 355-380).

Prior to and around September/October 2010 Hunt was provided legal services by attorneys Valtorta and Ballard. Hunt became pro se around September/October 2010. See (R. p. 548 lines 19-21, R. p. 552 lines 8-15 and R. pp. 1260-1261).

On 1/22/2011 BBT filed the affidavits of Chestnut and Teal in response to Hunt's motion for partial summary judgment. See (R. pp. 1595-1596). BBT (re)submitted the affidavits of Chestnut and Teal in lawsuit # 4 in opposition to the motion for summary judgment and at the 9/17/2014 hearing (MFS) where all of the attachments to the affidavits were no longer attached, etc.

On 2/3/2011 BBT filed a Response to the motion to stay and strike where BBT states at the bottom of page 2 at footnote 1 that all

¹ (R. pp. 1407-1410, pp. 1297-1372, pp. 1279-1288, pp. 1463-1468)

² See R. pp. 1188-1190; and R. pp. 490-491.

accounts of Hunt which are the subject of this action were closed in early 2009 when events leading to this action occurred. See (R. pp. 1779-1781).

On 3/23/2011 the USDC partially granted BBT's motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), FRCP: the federal causes of action were dismissed³ and the court declined supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims.⁴ On 4/20/2011 Hunt made a motion to alter and amend; and on 12/12/2011 Hunt filed a notice of appeal of lawsuit # 1 to the USCA.⁵ (R. p. 1597, R. pp. 1598-1599). Hunt argues that res judicata and law of the case applies to law suit # 1. (R. pp. 1-28, p. 1089, p. 1096, pp. 1101-1102 and p. 1228).

Lawsuit # 2: c/a 4:11-cv-0870-MGL-TER was filed on 4/12/2011 in the USDC by Hunt against several Defendants involving federal question jurisdiction. (R. pp. 1673-1678). On 5/10/2011 Hunt filed an amended complaint.⁶ (R. **pp. 165-232**, pp. 1271-1559, pp. 1683-1778) On 6/19/2012 BBT filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(2) and Rule 12(b)(5), FRCP. (R. pp. 381-382 & pp. 383-390) The USDC granted BBT's motion to dismiss. The 3/13/2013 final

³ The GLBA cause of action was not dismissed. (R. pp. 1431-1436, R. pp. 155-164, R. pp. 1-28) cf. (R. pp. 165-232, pp. 29-58)..

⁴ The claims of lawsuit # 1 were included in lawsuit #s 2-4; and Hunt timely refiled the claims from lawsuit # 1 in lawsuit #s 2-4. (R. pp. 147-260; R. pp. 277-338)

⁵ See case # c/a 4:09-cv-2151-JMC-TER where the USDC dismissed the federal causes of action and declined supplemental jurisdiction. (R. pp. 1-28, pp. 1587-1600) Hunt made a timely motion to alter or amend. Hunt made a timely appeal

judgment of the USDC states: case dismissed without prejudice under Rule 4(m), FRCP. (R. pp. 29-44) Law suit # 2 was not appealed. See (R. pp. 1673-1678). Hunt argues that res judicata and law of the case applies to law suit # 2. (R. pp. 165-232, pp. 381-390; pp. 29-44; p. 1089, p. 1096, pp. 1101-1102 and p. 1228)).

Lawsuit # 3: Case No: 2012-CP-26-5264⁷ aka c/a 4:12-cv-02216-MGL-TER was filed on 7/9/2012⁸ with forty two exhibits in Horry County Court of Common Pleas by Hunt against BBT only. (R. pp. 233-260 & pp. 1271-1530 & pp. 155-164 & pp. 1-28) Hunt submitted a notice of withdrawal on 8/6/2012 at 10:46 am. See (R. pp. 1936-1938). Thereafter, BBT submitted a Notice of Removal⁹ on 8/6/2012 at 13:49 pm based on diversity jurisdiction. See (R. pp. 233-260, pp. 1107-1109; pp. 259-260: 1271-1530 & pp. 155-164 & pp. 1-28). Hunt did not file a motion to remand. BBT submitted a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), FRCP on 8/9/2012 based on withdrawal and several other grounds. (R. pp. 391-422 & pp. 1933-1938).

and request for reconsideration to the USCA. Thereafter, Hunt timely filed law suit # 3. (R. pp. 1-28 and R. pp. 233-260).

⁶ (R. pp. 1279-1288)

⁷ The causes of action in the 7/9/2012 Complaint was the same as the causes of action in lawsuit # 4 at the 8/2/2013 counterclaims. See the 10/16/2014 Brief in opposition to Plaintiff's [] at page 11 of 45. (R. pp. 1189)

⁸ BBT in its foreclosure complaint in lawsuit # 4 states that the mortgage became delinquent on 7/1/2012. (R. pp. 261-272)

⁹ In its Notice of Removal for lawsuit # 3 in 8/2012 BBT cited to the already delinquent mortgage as the amount in controversy. (R. pp. 1107-1109) BBT did not assert a claim for foreclosure in lawsuit #s 2-3. (R. pp. 1673-1678, pp. 1679-1682)

On 9/17/2012 Hunt filed a Response (R. pp. 1679-1682) to BBT's 8/9/2012 MTD with the exhibits that are shown at (R. pp. 1107-1109, pp. 1683-1778, pp. 1531-1576, **pp. 165-232**, pp. 339-380, pp. 1-28). BBT did not object to these exhibits. (R. (pp. 165-232, pp. 381-390); pp. 29-44). [(R. (pp. 233-260, (pp. 391-422 & pp. 1933-1938)); (**pp. 165-232**, pp.); pp. 45-58)]. See (R. pp. 1681-1682); (R. (p. 1089, p. 1096, pp. 1188-1190, pp. 119-120)); and see the FAC at page 20 at paragraph # 271 & 275: R. pp. 318-319, pp. 1742-1775)

On 3/6/2013 Hunt filed the affidavit of Hunt at exhibit # 46 where exhibit # 46 includes a request for attorney fees and costs, etc. (R. p. 1682 & pp. 1577-1586). Thereafter, exhibit # 46 has been submitted several times in this matter without objection by BBT. (R. p. 477, p. 533, p. 541, p. 542, pp. 545-546, p. 1087, p. 966 line 1- p. 967 line 18, pp. 829-1072).

The USDC on 3/13/2013 partially granted BBT's motion to dismiss. BBT did not file a motion to alter or amend the judgment to preserve the issues of the 8/9/2012 MTD that were not ruled on in the 3/13/2013 Order.¹⁰ Law suit # 3 was not appealed. Lawsuit # 3 was dismissed without prejudice.¹¹ Hunt argues that res judicata and law

¹⁰ Cf. the 9/5/2013 MTD and the 6/25/2015 2nd MTD the FAC. (R. pp. 423-428 & pp. 429-432).

¹¹ During lawsuit # 4 at the request of the lower court BBT submitted some of the documents from lawsuit #s 1-3 to the lower court.

of the case applies to law suit # 3. (R. (pp. 233-260, pp. 391-422 & pp. 1933-1938); (pp. 165-232, pp.), pp. 45-58)). (R. pp. 1679-1682). (R. (p. 1089, pp. 1188-1190, pp. 119-120, p. 1096, pp. 1101-1102 and p. 1228))

Lawsuit # 4: On **4/16/2013** BBT filed a foreclosure Complaint against Hunt, Willow Green Homeowners' Association, Inc. (WGHOA)¹² and CJ Developers¹³ in State Court about thirty three days after lawsuit #s 2-3 were dismissed at BBT's request as stated above. See the 4/16/2013 Complaint (R. pp. 261-272); and see Hunt's arguments herein at **Forum Shopping [and Vexatious Litigation]**. Lawsuit # 4 is on going.

On **8/2/2013** Hunt filed and served the counterclaims and defenses, an answer and exhibits and motion for summary judgment. See the 8/2/2013 Answer (R. pp. 273-276); and the 8/2/2013 Counterclaims (R. pp. 277-298, pp. 165-232). Cf. the 7/9/2012 Complaint (R. pp. 233-258) and (R. p. 1189) (... one and the same.). (R. pp. 1188-1190).

On **8/12/2013** the lower court granted a second Order of Publication to BBT. (R. pp. 1795-1798)

¹² WGHOA did not provide Hunt with a copy of its Answer. On 10/17/2013 Hunt filed a Motion to Strike the Answer of WGHOA. WGHOA filed a withdrawal in this matter on 11/05/2013. See (R. pp. 1809-1816 & pp. 1829-1834).

On **8/13/2013** Hunt filed and served a waiver of service of process.

On **9/5/2013** BBT filed its 6th motion to dismiss¹⁴ under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC (R. pp. 423-428) in these four lawsuits where the 9/5/2013 motion to dismiss was not labeled as a REPLY - instead the motion was labeled: Plaintiff's Motion to dismiss Counterclaims of Cindy B. Hunt. See the 9/5/2013 MTD. (R. pp. 423-428).

On **11/04/2013** the Court filed an Order of Reference to the Master in Equity. (R. pp. 59-62)

4/21/2014 Hearing: On 4/21/2014 the Court heard and orally denied numerous motions (NMS) filed by Hunt. On 10/22/2014 the Court filed the Order denying these motions. (R. pp. 71-84).

5/6/2014 Scheduling Order: On 2/6/2014 the Court heard BBT motion for a scheduling Order. The Court orally granted the motion at the hearing and on 5/6/2014 the Court filed the written scheduling Order. (R. pp. 63-66).

5/20/2014 Hearing on 9/5/2013 MTD: on 5/20/2014, fourteen days after BBT was granted its motion for a scheduling Order, the court heard BBT's 1st MTD in this lawsuit and the 5th MTD in these four lawsuits involving Hunt's accounts at BBT. At the 5/20/2014 hearing

¹³ CJ Developers, LLC (the builder) was dissolved in 1996. CJ Developers has never filed any documents in this matter. See exhibit # 68. (R. pp. 1825-1828).

Hunt submitted a brief. (R. p. 560 line 24-p. 561 line 4; pp. 1119-1178) The Court orally granted BBT's 1st MTD in part and did not orally rule on three issues from the 1st MTD. (R. pp. 277-298, pp. 423-428, pp. 1119-1125, p. 1126, pp. 1127-1178 & pp. 557-828). The Court never filed a written Order re its oral ruling from the hearing on 5/20/2014. Cf.: See the 1/13/2015 Order (R. pp. 98-112) at footnote 1 where the 5/20/2014 hearing is treated as though the lower court filed an Order.¹⁵ (R. p. 1188, pp. 1179-1224, pp. 1095-1100) On **6/6/2014** Hunt filed and served the first amended counterclaims and defenses (FAC) (R. pp. 299-338) where the counterclaims and defenses included citations to exhibit #s 1-70+ (R. pp. 1271-1838 & pp. 1-58 & pp. 155-260 & pp. 339-380 & pp. 547-556 & pp. 1939-1942) where exhibit #s 3, 6, 12, 26, 46 and 70 are affidavits.¹⁶ (R. pp. 1279-1288, pp. 1297-1372, pp. 1407-1410, pp. 1463-1468, pp. 1577-1586, pp. 1835-1838) Hunt reasserted Hunt's answer to the foreclosure complaint. (R. pp. 273-276) On **6/6/2014** Hunt filed and served a motion for sanctions (MFS). BBT on **6/25/2014** submitted its 6th motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC (R. pp. 429-432)

¹⁴ The arguments of BBT's 9/5/2013 motion to dismiss were the same as the arguments of the 8/9/2012 motion to dismiss. (R. pp. 423-428 & pp. 391-422).

¹⁵ The lower court made oral rulings on BBT's 9/5/2013 MTD (exhibit # 89) on May 20, 2014. (R. pp. 423-428, pp. 557-828) However, the lower court never filed a written order from the May 20, 2014 hearing. (R. pp. 1-1942)

¹⁶ Footnote 4 of the FAC states: the counterclaims are verified. BBT has never objected to this statement. "Verified [counterclaims] by pro se [litigants] are to be

in these four lawsuits where the 6/25/2014 motion to dismiss was not labeled as a REPLY - instead the motion was labeled: Plaintiff's notice of motion and motion to dismiss the first amended counterclaims of defendant Cindy B. Hunt. See the unpreserved issues from the MTD: (R. pp. 1107-1109); ((R. pp. 233-260, **pp. 391-422 & pp. 1933-1938**); (R. pp. 165-232, pp.); R. pp. 45-58). (R. p. 1096). (R. (pp. 261-272, p. 1126, pp. 1847-1870)). (R. pp. 299-338 cf. R. pp. 165-232). (R. **pp. 429-432**). (R. pp. 1188-1190, pp. 119-120, p. 1096, pp. 1101-1102 and p. 1228); and see Hunt's arguments herein at **Forum Shopping [and Vexatious Litigation]**.

Hunt on **7/15/2014** filed and served fourteen (14) affidavits of default; the affidavit of Hunt (exhibit # 46) and [] Response to Plaintiff's motion to dismiss the first amended counterclaims.¹⁷ BBT has never filed a motion to set aside the ministerial entry of default (EOD). (R. pp. 433-492, pp. 1577-1586, pp. 1-1942)

On **8/7/2014** Hunt filed and served the notice of hearing on the MFS where the possible sanctions included default judgment, etc.

09/17/2014 Hearing on the Motion for Sanctions (MFS): A hearing was had on Hunt's MFS on **9/17/2014**. Hunt submitted a Brief at the 9/17/2014 hearing.

considered as affidavits." *Kough v. Pack* (D.S.C., April 29, 2016). (R. p. 299 & pp. 829-1072).

¹⁷ The affidavit of Hunt re attorney fees, etc was also submitted on 7/15/2014.

On **9/30/2014** Hunt filed and served Entries of Default (40); the Motion for Default Judgment under SCRCP 55 (a) and (b) with exhibit # 46 - affidavit for attorney fees & costs; Affidavits of default and Response to Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss the First Amended Counterclaims that include motion to strike, entry of default, Motion for Default Judgment /Application for Default Judgment (SCRCP 55(b)), etc. Herein after **MFDJ, etc.** See the Certificate of Service and Notice of Hearing at exhibit # 105. (R. pp. 493-546 & pp. 1577-1586)

On **9/30/2014** Hunt filed and served the notice of the 10/14/2014 hearing re the MFDJ, etc with the affidavit at exhibit # 46 requesting attorney fees and costs - on the attorneys for BBT and WGHOA; and CJ Developers. See (R. pp. 542-546 & pp. 1577-1586).

On **10/14/2014** a hearing was scheduled on Hunt's MFDJ, etc.: affidavits of default; response to 2nd MTD the FAC; MFDJ under SCRCP 55 (a) and (b); affidavit for attorney fees & costs, motion to strike, etc. (R. pp. 545-546)

And on **10/14/2014** a hearing was scheduled on BBT's Motion to Dismiss (2nd MTD the FAC).

During the **10/14/2014** hearing on BBT's 2nd MTD the FAC Hunt submitted to BBT and the Court - Hunt's Brief in opposition to the 2nd MTD the FAC / Brief in support of entry of default and default

judgment.¹⁸ The Court stated during the hearing on BBT 2nd MTD on 10/14/2014 that it was going to file Hunt's Brief. BBT did not make any objections. (R. p. 905 line 17 – p. 906 line 6)

On **10/14/2014** the court heard BBT's 2nd MTD the FAC and made oral rulings¹⁹ granting the motion to dismiss based on statute of limitations and no private right of action. After BBT's 2nd MTD the FAC was heard by the Court on 10/14/2014 the attorney for BBT exited the courtroom without being dismissed or excused before Hunt's MFDJ, etc was orally argued and before Hunt could say that the Brief also included Hunt's arguments in support of entry of default and default judgment. (R. pp. 829-958 & pp. 1218-1224) As a result BBT did not make any type of an objection to 1) Hunt's 9/30/2014 MFDJ, etc. See the Notice of Hearing at (R. pp. 545-546 & p. 542-543) and see Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCP; and 2) Hunt's Brief in opposition to the Plaintiff's 6/2[5]/2014 2nd MTD the FAC; Brief in support of entry of default and default judgment. (R. pp. 433-538, pp. 1179-1217, pp. 1218-1224, pp. 1119-1178, pp. 829-958, pp. 85-90, pp. 1073-1075 & pp. 1083-1086, (pp. 1110-1118, pp. 98-112), pp. 1225-1270, pp. 959-1072)

¹⁸ The Court filed this Brief on 10/16/2014. (R. pp. 1179-1224 & pp. 1119-1178)

¹⁹ The court filed the written and signed Order on 1/13/2015 which was after removal to the USDC and prior to remand to the State Court. (R. pp. 1110-1118, pp. 1839-1880, pp. 98-135, pp. 1887-1891)

On **10/15/2014** in an email to the clerk for the Master in Equity - Hunt requested that the Court reschedule the hearing on the motion for default and default judgment (MFDJ, etc.). (R. pp. 1901)

On **10/15/2014** in an email to the clerk for the Master in Equity - the attorney for BBT stated: Because Ms. Hunt's motion seeks a default judgment concerning the amended counterclaims that Judge Howe dismissed yesterday, I believe that the motion is now moot and a hearing no longer necessary. (R. pp. 1901)

On **10/15/2014** Hunt wrote another email stating among other things that BBT did not Reply to the amended counterclaims. (R. pp. 1901)

On **10/15/2014** a couple more emails were exchanged.

On **10/16/2014** the Court filed the briefs labeled: Brief in opposition to the 2nd MTD the FAC / Brief in support of entry of default and default judgment (dated 10/14/2014); and Brief in opposition to the motion to dismiss (dated 5/20/2014). (R. pp. 1119-1224)

On **10/20/2014** the Court filed the Order that denied Hunt's 6/6/2014 MFS. (R. pp. 67-70)

On **10/22/2014** the Court filed the Order that denied Hunt's NMS re the 8/2/2013 original counterclaims. (R. pp. 71-84)

On **10/23/2014** Judge Howe sent an email to Hunt and the attorney for BBT. The Judge's email referenced Rule 12(a)(1), SCRCF. (R. p. 1903, p. 1086, pp. 165-232, pp. 299-338, pp. 433-474, pp. 1188-1190)

The lower court on **10/28/2014 at 9:04** filed an Order that denied Hunt's MFDJ, etc. (R. pp. 85-90)

The proposed Order granting BBT 2nd MTD the FAC was submitted for the Judge's signature on **10/28/2014 at 9:38 pm** which was after the filed 9:04 am Order denying Hunt's MFDJ, etc. (R. pp. 1904 & pp. 85-90 & pp. 98-112 & p. 1931)

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