THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Cynthia Graham Howe, Master in Equity

Case No.: 2013-CP-26-02528
Appellate Case No. 2016-001550

RECEIVED

JUL 05 2017

SC COURT OF APPEALS

Branch Banking and Trust Company.....Respondent,

v.

Cindy B. Hunt, Willow Greens Homeowners Association, Inc.,
C.J. Developers, LLC..... Defendants,

Of whom Cindy B. Hunt is theAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

Sean M. Foerster (SC Bar # 77466)
ROGERS TOWNSEND & THOMAS, PC
1221 Main Street, 14th Floor (29201)
Post Office Box 100200
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-3200
(803) 771-7900
sean.foerster@rtt-law.com

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

ARGUMENTS

The Court must affirm the Master's Order entered on June 15, 2016, for the following reasons:

- 1. The Master did not abuse her discretion in denying Hunt's motion to alter or amend the order denying Hunt's motion for a default judgment on the amended counterclaims because BB&T timely filed a motion to dismiss the amended counterclaims before its time to serve a Reply had expired and the Master granted BB&T's motion to dismiss the amended counterclaims.**

In the Order entered on June 15, 2016, the Master correctly concluded that there was no error in her previous order denying Hunt's Motion for Default Judgment on the grounds of mootness.

"A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical effect upon [an] existing controversy." *Holden v. Cribb*, 349 S.C. 132, 137, 561 S.E.2d 634, 637 (Ct. App. 2002).

Once the Master granted BB&T's Motion to Dismiss as to all of Hunt's amended counterclaims at the hearing on October 14, 2014, it became impossible for BB&T to be held in default on those counterclaims and it rendered Hunt's motion for a default judgment moot.

The Master also correctly concluded that there was no error in denying Hunt's Motion for Default Judgment because BB&T's timely² filing of a motion to dismiss Hunt's amended counterclaims stayed the time for a Reply to those amended counterclaims. Rule 12(a)(1), SCRPC ("The service of a motion permitted under this rule alters these periods of time as follows ... if the Court denies the motion or postpones its disposition until the trial on the merits, the responsive pleading shall be served within 15 days after notice of the Court's action..."). Because Hunt's amended counterclaims constituted a new pleading, BB&T was permitted to respond by way of a new motion to dismiss rather than having to file a Reply. Contrary to Hunt's assertion, Rules 12(g) and 12(h) were inapplicable to the issue and did not prohibit BB&T from filing a motion to dismiss the amended counterclaims.

Therefore, the Master did not abuse her discretion in denying Hunt's "Motion to alter or amend the Judgment/Orders of the Court under SCRPC 59(e)" of October 30, 2014.

- 2. The Master did not abuse her discretion in denying Hunt's motion to alter, amend, or vacate the order denying Hunt's motion for attorney's fees and costs because Hunt was not a prevailing party, Hunt had no contract, statute, or court rule entitling her to attorney's fees or costs, and Hunt was not represented by an attorney in this action.**

In the Order entered on June 15, 2016, the Master correctly concluded that there was no error in the Form 4 Order entered on June 3, 2015, because Hunt is not entitled to recover attorney's fees and costs from BB&T in this case.

² Hunt served the First Amended Counterclaims and Defenses on BB&T by regular mail on June 6, 2014. Pursuant to Rules 15(a) and 6(e), SCRPC, BB&T had 20 days, or until June 26, 2014, to serve either a motion or Reply to the counterclaims.

Attorney's fees are generally awardable only to a prevailing party. "A prevailing party has been defined as ... [t]he one who successfully prosecutes the action or successfully defends against it, prevailing on the main issue, even though not to the extent of the original contention [and] is the one in whose favor the decision or verdict is rendered and judgment entered." *Heath v. Cty. of Aiken*, 302 S.C. 178, 182-83, 394 S.E.2d 709, 711 (1990).

Even if a party prevails, "[i]n South Carolina, the authority to award attorney's fees can come only from a statute or be provided for in the language of a contract." *Seabrook Island Prop. Owners' Ass'n v. Berger*, 365 S.C. 234, 238-39, 616 S.E.2d 431, 434 (Ct. App. 2005). "There is no common law right to recover attorney's fees." *Id.*

Hunt has not prevailed on any of her claims or defenses in this case. Even if she had prevailed, Hunt cited no contract or statute entitling her to attorney's fees and costs. Hunt relied solely upon Rule 41(d), SCRPC, for her claim to attorney's fees and costs.

"If a plaintiff who has once dismissed an action in any court commences an action based upon or including the same claim against the same defendant, the court may make such order for the payment of costs of the action previously dismissed as it may deem proper and may stay the proceedings in the action until the plaintiff has complied with the order." Rule 41(d), SCRPC (emphasis added). "The general rule, however, is that attorney fees are not included in the term 'costs' in the absence of some statutory provision, rule of court, or contract of the parties." *Shuler v. Crook*, 290 S.C. 538, 541, 351 S.E.2d 862, 863 (1986).

Rule 41(d) concerns successive voluntary dismissals by a plaintiff and authorizes the payment of costs only, not attorney's fees. BB&T has not voluntarily dismissed any case against Hunt in which it was the plaintiff. In Hunt's federal lawsuits against BB&T, Hunt was the plaintiff and BB&T was the defendant. All three actions were dismissed by court orders, not by

voluntary dismissals. Further, Rule 41, SCRPC, does not apply to federal court actions. Therefore, the Master correctly concluded that Hunt had no right to attorney's fees or costs under Rule 41(d) in this case.

Finally, the Master correctly concluded that a *pro se* litigant, whether an attorney or layperson, does not become liable for or subject to fees charged by an attorney. *Calhoun v. Calhoun*, 339 S.C. 96, 100, 529 S.E.2d 14, 17 (2000). Hunt has represented herself throughout this case, and therefore she has not incurred any attorney's fees. Whether Hunt had legal representation at certain points in her federal cases against BB&T is irrelevant to her liability for attorney's fees with respect to this case.

Therefore, the Master did not abuse her discretion in denying Hunt's request to alter, amend, or vacate the Form 4 Order entered on June 3, 2015.

3. The Master did not abuse her discretion in denying Hunt's motion to void the Order of January 13, 2015, for lack of jurisdiction because, although the Order was entered while the case was removed to federal court, it merely memorialized the Master's oral ruling and Form 4 Order from before the removal.

In the Order entered on June 15, 2016, the Master correctly concluded that the Order of January 13, 2015, was not void for lack of jurisdiction because its entry was merely a ministerial act based on a decision rendered prior to removal that in no way caused the case to "proceed" during the removal period.

The filing of a notice of removal prohibits the state court from "proceeding" until the case is remanded. 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d) ("Promptly after the filing of such notice of removal of a civil action the defendant or defendants shall give written notice thereof to all adverse parties and shall file a copy of the notice with the clerk of such State court, which shall effect the removal and the State court shall proceed no further unless and until the case is remanded.>").

However, only “the state court’s power to render the particular judgment requested, [is] suspended or held in abeyance until a determination [is] made as to whether the cases involved a federal question more appropriately decided by the federal court.” *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 106, 744 S.E.2d 566, 573 (2013)(emphasis added).

In a procedurally similar and instructive case, the United States District Court for the District of Utah decided the issue of whether a written order entered after removal concerning a ruling made pre-removal violated § 1446(d). *Pebble Creek Homes, LLC v. Upstream Images, LLC*, 547 F. Supp. 2d 1214 (D. Utah 2007). In *Pebble Creek Homes*, the state court ruled on a motion at a hearing thirteen days before the defendant filed a notice of removal. *Id.* at 1216. A proposed order was submitted to the state court on the same day that the defendant filed the notice of removal. *Id.* The state court then signed and entered its written order on the motion two days after removal. *Id.*

The Utah District Court held that the “entrance of an order [two days after removal] was simply a ministerial act that did not involve further proceedings within the meaning of the federal removal statute.” *Id.* at 1218. The Utah District Court reasoned that

The only act that Judge Pullan took subsequent to the removal was on July 25, 2007, when he performed the ministerial function of signing and entering the order reflecting his earlier, in-court ruling on July 10, 2007. Because this final, essentially clerical task in no way affected the merits of the already-adjudicated issue disputed by the parties, the court finds that the state court order does not violate § 1446(d). To hold otherwise would enable defendants to effectively nullify dispositive rulings made at state court hearings by rushing to remove the case before the administrative entrance of the written version of the decision.

Id. at 1218-19.

As in *Pebble Creek Homes*, the Master’s entry of the Order of January 13, 2015, did not cause the case to “proceed” any further during the removal period. It merely memorialized the Master’s earlier, pre-removal ruling at the hearing on October 14, 2014. As in *Pebble Creek*

Homes, BB&T's counsel emailed a proposed order to the Master prior to removal. Further, the Master emailed her ruling in writing to Hunt on October 23, 2014, which was prior to removal, and then entered a Form 4 Order concerning her ruling on October 28, 2014, which was also prior to removal.

To hold that the Master lacked jurisdiction to enter the Order of January 13, 2015, would encourage disgruntled state court litigants such as Hunt to go judge-shopping by racing to remove actions to federal court before the entry of a formal order after incurring an adverse ruling.

Therefore, the Master did not abuse her discretion in denying Hunt's "Motion: Lack of Jurisdiction, SCRCF 59 and SCRCF 60 re Order filed on 1/13/2015" of August 11, 2015.

4. Hunt failed to preserve for review by the Court her argument that BB&T engaged in forum shopping and vexatious litigation.

Hunt failed to preserve for review by the Court the argument in her Appellant's Brief that BB&T engaged in forum shopping and vexatious litigation. "It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved." *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 565, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). "If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review." *I'On, L.L.C.*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724; *see also* Rule 59(e), SCRCF. This preservation requirement "prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case." *Id.*